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To: Commissioners 
From: Jonathan Wayne, Executive Director 
Date: September 18, 2019 
Re: Update on Audits of 2018 Maine Clean Election Act Candidates 

The Commission on Governmental Ethics and Election Practices audits the campaign 

finances of all candidates for Governor who participate in the Maine Clean Election Act 

(MCEA) program and a random selection of MCEA candidates for the Legislature.  If the 

auditor determines that the campaign has deviated from the reporting and record-keeping 

procedures, the auditor will send a draft report containing proposed exceptions or 

findings to the candidate.  The candidate may respond to the draft report in writing.  After 

considering the candidate’s response, the auditor prepares a final audit report that is 

mailed to the candidate.   

The Commission’s contract auditors will attend your September 25 meeting to update 

you on the progress of the 2018 audits.  The final seven audit reports for the legislative 

candidates are attached for your reference.  In the view of the Commission staff, the 

exceptions and findings do not require any action by you. 

Candidate 
Date 

Mailed 
Number of 
Exceptions 

Number of 
Findings 

Kylie Bragdon 7/29/2019 1 0 
Benjamin M. Chipman 7/29/2019 4 0 
Norman E. Higgins 8/7/2019 4 0 
Lisa M. Keim 8/8/2019 4 0 
Kelcy McNamara 8/7/2019 4 0 
Warren Richardson 7/29/2019 7 2 
Aaron B. Rowden 7/29/2019 1 0 

The overall results of the 2018 audits suggest that candidates overwhelmingly report their 

expenditures of MCEA funds correctly, the expenditures are for traditional campaign 
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expenses, and they keep the required documents (monthly bank statements, 

invoices/receipts from the vendor, proof that the vendor received payment, mileage logs 

if the campaign reimbursed for travel, etc.)  Nevertheless, some MCEA candidates made 

isolated bookkeeping errors such as omitting an expenditure in the finance reports, 

reporting a duplicate expenditure, or failing to obtain an invoice/receipt from the vendor 

at the time of the purchase. 

 

We are still seeing confirmation that candidates order campaign goods/services in one 

reporting period and pay for the goods/services in a later period.  There is no problem 

with this, except that some of them do not understand that the purchase needs to be 

reported twice: 

 as an unpaid debt in the earlier report period, and 

 as an expenditure in the later period. 

We view this as a manageable issue and we will continue our efforts to educate 

candidates about reporting debts. 

 

For your information, candidate Warren Richardson has returned $256.64 in MCEA 

funds that his campaign incorrectly used to reimburse him for travel before he qualified 

for MCEA funds.  Initially, the auditor found that State Senator Lisa Keim had entered 

into a $2,500 debt on November 1, 2018 (five days before the general election) which 

required that she file a separate 24-hour report.  Further investigation, however, 

confirmed that the campaign actually placed the order on October 12, 2018.  

Accordingly, her treasurer should have reported the debt in the 11-day pre-general report.  

The omission was downgraded from a finding to an exception, consistent with other 

candidates who should have included a debt in the campaign finance report due 42 days 

before or 11 days before the general election.   

 

Thank you for your consideration of this update.   

 




























































































